IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JACKIE CORNELIUS WILLIAMS, : Petitioner, : vs. : No. STATE OF FLORIDA, : Respondent. : :

Case SC06-0594

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DEBORAH K. BRUECKHEIMER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0278734

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 30, 2003, the State Attorney in and for the Twentieth Judicial Circuit, Collier County, Florida, filed an information which it later amended charging Petitioner, Jackie Cornelius Williams, with sexual battery upon V.G., a person older than 12 but less than 16, by putting his penis inside of or in union with her vagina without her consent; and in the process he used or threatened to use a deadly weapon or actual physical force likely to cause serious personal injury with Mr. Williams being 18 or older on May 29, 2003, contrary to section 794.011(3), Florida Statutes (2002). Mr. Williams was also charged with kidnapping the same person on the same date in violation of section 787.01, Florida Statutes (2002). (V1/R15,16,29,30,40,41)

Mr. Williams had a jury trial; and on June 17, 2004, the jury found him guilty of lewd or lascivious battery as a lesser of the sexual battery and not guilty of the kidnapping. (V1/R96,97;V4/ T267) On July 14, 2004, Mr. Williams was sentenced to 10 years of prison to be followed by 5 years of sexual offender probation. (V1/R99-123;SV/154) A Notice of Appeal was timely filed on July 22, 2004. (V1/R125,126)

In Mr. Williams' appeal to the Second District Court of Appeals, he raised as his only issue the erroneous giving of the lesser lewd or lascivious battery. The Second District

upheld the trial court's decision and the jury's verdict. It did so based on 1999 amendments to the lewd or lascivious statute that made prior case law inapplicable; however, the Court also noted those same amendments were raising issues in this areas in more recent cases. So the Second District certified the following question as being of great public importance:

> MAY THE CRIME OF LEWD OR LASCIVIOUS BATTERY PROHIBITED BY SECTION 800.04(4), FLORIDA STATUTES (2002), BE A PERMISSIVE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF THE CRIME OF SEXUAL BATTERY CHARGED PURSUANT TO SECTION 794.011(3), FLORIDA STATUTES (2002)?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The victim in this case, V.G., testified that she was fifteen years of age in May of 2003. (V3/T25) She met Mr. Williams in the fall of 2002 at her job at the mall. He introduced himself to her, told her that his name was Mike, and said he was 19 years of age. They exchanged phone numbers, and she saw him five or six times. They went out to the movies, to the park, or to eat. She said they were just friends and there was no physical relationship or contact. (V3/T26-27)

On May 29, 2003, he called and asked her if she wanted to go out to eat; and she agreed. He picked her up at her house, and they went to his house. She was sitting on the couch watching TV, and they were talking when Mr. Williams grabbed her and pulled her by the hair into the bedroom. (V3/T28-29)

While they were in the bedroom, someone came in. Mr. Williams went out of the room and spoke to the person. He then came back in, got undressed, grabbed her, slammed her on the bed, and forcefully put his penis into her vagina without her consent. (V3/T30-32) Afterwards she said Mr. Williams told her he would have to kill her, because she would call the police. He began to choke her. She kicked him off her and ran for the door. He grabbed her by the throat, slammed her head against the wall, and punched her in the left eye, which

began to bleed. They struggled, and she made it into the kitchen. She said Mr. Williams grabbed some scissors and tried to stab her, but she got the scissors away from him (V3/T32-33)

V.G. said she tried to get out the door, holding the scissors behind her back. Mr. Williams grabbed her hair, and they struggled toward the living room. She kicked the bottom of the screen door out and went out through the front door. She got out onto the driveway, and Mr. Williams jumped on top of her trying to get the scissors away from her. A woman pulled up in a car, and V.G. screamed for help saying that Mr. Williams was trying to rape and kill her. 911 was called, and she was taken to the hospital. She had cuts on her fingers, a bite mark, and her left eyebrow over the eye was cut and needed seven stitches. (V3/T35-38)

On cross-examination she admitted she had grabbed the scissors from Mr. Williams and stabbed him in the right shoulder. (V3/T57-58)

A visitor to a neighbor testified he heard crashes coming from Mr. Williams' apartment, and he heard a male voice scream out the "F ing bitch tried to stab me." He saw a girl come out of the apartment into the street wearing a bloody T-shirt whose face was "hamburger." His girlfriend called 911 and police came. (V3/T66-68,71)

The registered nurse/sexual assault nurse examiner was called to the emergency room to see V.G. She said that V.G.

had lots of blood on her face, multiple bruises to neck and other parts of her body but no indications of trauma to her vulva, hymen, vagina or cervix. (V3/T75-86)

The crime scene investigator testified he found no blood on the carpet in the living room, no damage to walls in the hallway, no semen on the bedding or clothing, but some semen on the man's underpants. (V3/T100-101,109,110) He said her clothes appeared to have been stepped out of, not torn off. (V3/T111,112)

Sergeant Mike Fox testified that he conducted a taped interview with Mr. Williams in which he admitted he had consensual sex with V.G., but denied he raped her. The tape was admitted into evidence over defense objection that it was cumulative, and it was played for the jury. (V3/T119,126-127) In the tape Mr. Williams admits that he and V.G. had consensual sex in his house on his bed. Afterward V.G. became aggressive, because Mr. Williams said he did not want to leave his wife and son for her. He said she grabbed up some scissors and got a nasty look on her face. When he asked her to leave, she "just went crazy." (V3/T133,135,141-142) He said that V.G. came at him with the scissors trying to cut him and did cut him on the leg as he tried to block her. Mr. Williams said they struggled and wrestled around the house as she kept trying to cut him with the scissors. He tried to get to the phone, but she kept coming after him telling him she was going to kill him. She broke the screen out, ran outside

to a woman in a car, and told the woman he was raping her and trying to kill her. She got cut when they were struggling with the scissors. He went to the phone and dialed 911 but could not get an answer. Then he called his wife and told her what was going on. (V3/T142-146) Mr. Williams said he did not know that V.G. was a minor. (V3/T149) Mr. Williams denied that he went and picked her up. He said that she came to his house and came into his bedroom, without his knowledge. (V3/T149,131,153,154) The officer admitted Mr. Williams had stab wounds and was bleeding from his left bicep and lower leg. (V3/T169)

Mr. Williams' testimony during trial was substantially the same as the admissions he made for the police with some exceptions. (V4/T210-248) He admitted that he picked up V.G. at her house on May 29, 2003; that they had consensual sex; and that his penis penetrated her vagina. He also admitted that he was 29 years of age at the time. (V4/T215,221,232) He stated, however, he did not know V.G. was 15. She had lied to him about her age. (V4/T232) He said he had lied to the police when he said that he did not pick up V.G. that day at her house, but he did so because he did not want his wife to know he had brought another woman to the house. (V4/T211,212)

He described the struggle through the house. Mr. Williams stated that after they had sex, V.G. wanted to know if he was going to leave his wife and son for her. When he told her he would never leave them for anyone, she got very

б

upset and grabbed the scissors. He tried to get them away from her, and they both got hurt during the struggle. She stabbed him twice. (R4/T222-230)

The court, over defense objections, read the instructions to the jury for lewd and lascivious battery as a lesser included offense. (V3/T187-190;V4/T202-209,252-253) The jury returned a verdict of guilty of lewd or lascivious battery. (V4/T267;V1/ R96,97)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In 1999 the legislature overhauled Ch. 800, lewd or lascivious conduct, to the point where the lines between it and Ch. 794, sexual battery, have been blurred. This Court should maintain the integrity of Ch. 800 and keep it separate from Ch. 794. Not to do so creates double jeopardy issues and problems with what are appropriate lesser. No matter how this Court answers the Second District's question, however, the Petitioner is entitled to a new trial. Either it was error to allow Mr. Williams to be convicted of lewd or lascivious battery as a lesser of sexual battery with violence or weapon or the jury was misled when it was told the lessers were in a descending order when they were not.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

MAY THE CRIME OF LEWD OR LASCIVIOUS BATTERY PROHIBITED BY SECTION 800.04(4), FLORIDA STATUTES (2002), BE A PERMISSIVE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF THE CRIME OF SEXUAL BATTERY CHARGED PURSUANT TO SECTION 794.011(3), FLORIDA STATUTES (2002)?

For many years the lewd or lascivious statute had language that excluded the commission of a sexual battery as part of its definition. Prior to 1984 (undersigned counsel only went back as far as 1975) the statute read:

> 800.04 Lewd, lascivious or indecent assault or act upon or in presence of child.—Any person who shall handle, fondle or make an assault upon any child under the age of fourteen (14) years in a lewd, lascivious or indecent manner, or who shall knowingly commit any lewd or lascivious act in the presence of such child, without the intention to commit involuntary sexual battery, shall be guilty of a felony of the second degree...

(Emphasis added.) The statute was amended in 1984 to correct some problems such as the victim's lack of chastity or consent as defense, but the intent to keep lewd and lascivious conduct separate from sexual battery was strengthened:

> 800.04 Lewd, lascivious or indecent assault or act upon or in presence of child.—Any person who shall:

(1) Handle, fondle or make an assault upon any child under the age of 16 years in a lewd, lascivious or indecent manner;

(2) Commit an act defined as sexual battery under s.794.011(1)(f) upon such child; or

(3) Knowingly commit any lewd or lascivious act in the presence of such child,

without committing the crime of sexual battery shall be guilty of a felony of the second degree....

(Emphasis added.) See Ch. 84-86, sec. 5.

This language of "without committing the crime of sexual battery" remained in the statute until 1999 when it was At that time the lewd or lascivious conduct statute removed. underwent many changes adding in subsections for additional offenses (lewd or lascivious battery-second-degree felony; lewd or lascivious molestation-first-degree, second-degree and third-degree felonies depending on the age of the victim and perpetrator; lewd or lascivious conduct-second-degree or third-degree felonies depending on the age of the perpetrator; and lewd or lascivious exhibition-second-degree or thirddegree felonies depending on the age of the perpetrator). Ιt was during that major overhaul of sec. 800.04, Fla. Stat. (1999), that the line between sexual battery and lewd or lascivious battery was dissolved. As a result, there has been a great deal of confusion as to whether or not they are the same crime when arising from the same conduct and whether or not lewd or lascivious battery is now a lesser of sexual battery with a deadly weapon or physical force.

Prior to 1999 this Court made clear its position on how lewd or lascivious conduct stood in relation to a sexual

State v. Hightower, 509 So. 2d 1078, 1079 (Fla. batterv. 1987), stated that the unique statutory language "without committing the crime of sexual battery" in sec. 800.04 made it clear that lewd or lascivious conduct and sexual battery were mutually exclusive. Therefore, the crime of lewd or lascivious conduct was not a necessarily included offense of sexual battery. In Welsh v. State, 850 So. 2d 467, 470 (Fla. 2003), this Court took Hightower one step further and held that lewd or lascivious conduct was also not a permissive included offense of sexual battery. This Court did note the substantial amendments to the 1999 lewd or lascivious statute, but it refused to express any opinion as to the effect of these changes on the issue of being a lesser to sexual battery. That issue is now before this Court.

It is important to note this Court said in <u>Hightower</u> that if the phrase "without committing the crime of sexual battery" was excluded from sec. 800.04, then a person having forcible sex with a child under 16 would be guilty of both crimes. <u>Hightower</u>, 509 So. 2d at 1079. The State relied on this dicta in <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 919 So. 2d 623 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006). Faced with the 1999 version of section 800.04 with the "unique" language of "without committing the crime of sexual battery" gone, the defendant was convicted of both sexual battery and lewd or lascivious molestation on a 13-year-old child. Only a single act supported both of these convictionsdigital penetration of the vagina. The defendant argued both

convictions for the same act violated double jeopardy, and the State argued <u>Hightower</u>. The Second District rejected the State's argument and found "convictions for sexual battery and lewd or lascivious molestation violate double jeopardy principles when the offenses 'were both perpetrated on the same victim, at the same time and place, during the same criminal episode.'" <u>Robinson</u>, 919 So. 2d at 623, quoting from <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 913 So. 2d 1291, 1291 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005). <u>Hightower</u>, which wasn't faced with this issue, does point out in ftnt. 4 that only one conviction can be obtained for the same conduct; however, the Second District was concerned and certified the following question as being one of great public importance:

> MAY A DEFENDANT BE CONVICTED OF BOTH SEXUAL BATTERY UNDER SECTION 794.011(5), FLORIDA STATUTES (2002), AND LEWD AND LASCIVIOUS MOLESTATION UNDER SECTION 800.4(5), FLORIDA STATUTES (2002), FOR A SINGLE SEXUAL ACT?

The State did not seek this Court's jurisdiction in <u>Robinson</u>, so the question went unanswered.

Although this question is not at issue in Mr. Williams' case, the question shows the problems caused by the 1999 amendments which removed the "unique" language that kept sexual battery separate and apart from lewd or lascivious. Mr. Williams' issue is what now constitutes lessers of sexual battery and whether or not lewd or lascivious battery is a permissive lesser.

Most of the essential facts in this case are uncontroverted. Mr. Williams admitted to having sex with V.G., V.G. was 15 at the time, and Mr. Williams was 29. The controversy was whether or not the sex act was consensual as Mr. Williams claimed or nonconsensual and accompanied with a deadly weapon or physical force likely to cause serious personal injury as V.G. claimed. The State charged Mr. Williams with sexual battery with a deadly weapon or physical force--a life felony under sec. 794.011(3). When it came to lessers, the State asked for and received lewd or lascivious battery--a second-degree felony under sec. 800.04(4)(a)--over objection, sexual battery without violence--a second-degree felony under sec. 794.011(5), and simple battery.

The jury was told there are lessers to sexual battery with a deadly weapon or physical force, and they were given these 3 lessers in a descending order both in the instructions and in the verdict form. The jury was also told they must return a guilty verdict for the <u>highest</u> offense which has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt and only one verdict may be returned as to each crime charged. (V1/R80-83,90,96;V4/T252-254,261,262)

It is more than just reasonable to assume that the jury is being told sexual battery with violence is a more severe crime than lewd or lascivious battery, lewd or lascivious battery is a more severe crime than sexual battery without violence, and sexual battery without violence is a more severe

crime than simple battery. The jurors are told about the lessers and these lessers are put in a descending order in order to give effect to the jury's right to exercise its "pardon power." This Court has noted the importance of the jury "pardon power" in the past. See State v. Baker, 456 So. 2d 419, 422 (Fla. 1984)("lesser included offenses" allow for the non-constitutional right of an accused to an instruction that gives the jury an opportunity to convict for an offense with a less severe punishment than the crime charged); State v. Wimberly, 498 So. 2d 929, 932 (Fla. 1986)(the requirement that a trial judge give a necessarily lesser included offense instruction is based on a recognition of the jury's right to exercise its "pardon power."); State v. Connelly, 748 So. 2d 248 (Fla. 1999) (recognizes that jury verdicts can be factually inconsistent as a result of lenity coming from the jury's inherent authority to acquit).

In Mr. Williams' case, however, there was a glitch in the descending order-lewd or lascivious battery is the same degree of felony and carries the same punishment as sexual battery without violence under sec. 794.011(5). They are both second-degree felonies punishable by up to 15 years of imprisonment as per sec. 775.082(3)(c), Fla. Stat. (2002). In addition 794.011(5) and 800.04(4) are both listed as level 8 offenses under sec. 921.0012, Fla. Stat. (2002). What is more, sexual battery without violence under sec. 794.011(5) and battery are listed as Category 1 necessary lessers for sexual battery on a

victim over 12 with violence or weapon in the jury instructions. So under the Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases the trial court had no options on giving the lesser of sexual battery without violence and battery; but when it added in lewd or lascivious battery-a charge not listed as a lesser as of 2006, it gave the jury the erroneous assumption/presumption that lewd or lascivious battery was a greater offense in degree and punishment than sexual battery without violence even though it was not.

At the very least the jury in Mr. Williams' case was misled about the descending order of lesser, and at the very most the State may be seeking an ability to present a "family tree" of lesser wherein 2 or more lessers of the crime charged are not lessers to each other as so:



Battery

This dichotomy makes the jury instruction as to convicting for 'the most serious crime proven' wrong and creates the novel issue of whether the jury can find guilt on 2 different crimes arising from only 1 initial charge.

All of this brings us to the question certified by the Second District and shows why the question was certified-the answer is not simple and has many ramifications. If this Court finds that the removal of the "unique" language "without committing the crime of sexual battery" has lifted all previous restrictions that had prohibited lewd or lascivious conduct from being a lesser of sexual battery, than it must deal with the ramifications. Does sexual battery on a person over 12 without violence remain a Category 1 necessary lesser of sexual battery with violence, putting it on the same level as lewd or lascivious battery? Is the jury to be told they are not dealing with lessers in a descending order when faced with 2 lessers of the crime charged of equal degree and punishment? Can the State be forced to chose which lesser it will use if the novel use of a "family tree" concept of lessers is not to be allowed? Will the defendant have any input on these lessers should an election have to be made. This is what the 1999 amendments to lewd or lascivious conduct It dissolved the barrier that once kept lewd or has done. lascivious conduct separate and apart from sexual battery and created a pool of mud where the statutes are running together without any barriers.

In light of all the confusion, the answer to the Second District's question should be in the negative. Lewd or lascivious conduct can not be a lesser of sexual battery with

violence or a weapon. It should remain its own charge in Ch. 800 and kept separate from Ch. 794. The State had sexual battery with violence or a weapon and sexual battery without violence in sec. 794 as a lesser should the jury reject the victim's claims of violence or use of a weapon as it did in If the State is dealing with a child Mr. Williams' case. older than 12 but less than 16 so that chastity and consent are not issues, then the State should set forth a separate count in the information. Should the jury convict on both sexual battery with or without violence and lewd or lascivious battery based on the same conduct, then the constitutional double jeopardy provisions can step in and the trial court can discharge the defendant on 1 of the 2 convictions. This is what this Court recognized in Hightower in ftnt. 4, and this is what will keep the complex lewd or lascivious conduct in Ch. 800 separate and apart from sexual battery in Ch. 794. For as complicated a lewd or lascivious battery is, lewd or lascivious molestation with its variety of felony degrees based on ages of the victim and perpetrator is much worse. Mr. Williams should be given a new trial.

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