### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JACKIE CORNELIUS WILLIAMS

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC06-0594

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Chief-Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, Tampa Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 238538

MARILYN MUIR BECCUE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0119581 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 (813)287-7900 Fax (813)281-5500

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

###

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

Further, the evidence adduced at trial supported the giving of the instruction. The victim testified Petitioner's sexual organ penetrated her vagina. (V3/T31-32). Moreover, the victim testified she was 15 at the time of the offense. (V3/T25) More importantly, Petitioner admitted to having sexual intercourse with the victim, although contending it was consensual and claiming he did not know the victim was only 15 years old at the time. (V3/T119-20; 127-67; V4/T214-15, 221, 232). Therefore, the giving of the Lewd and Lascivious Battery instruction was proper, and the Second District Court of Appeal properly affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence.

## An Instruction On Lewd And Lascivious Battery As A Permissive Lesser Included Offense Of Sexual Battery With Force Or Violence Would Not Violate An Individual's Right To Be Free From Double Jeopardy.

Allowing Lewd and Lascivious Battery to be a permissive lesser-included offense of Sexual Battery with Violence would not implicate Double Jeopardy concerns. The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution states, "No person shall . . . be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb. . . ." U.S. Const. Amend. V. Similarly, the Florida Constitution's due process clause provides, "No person shall . . . be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense." Fla. Const. § 9.

The standard for determining whether multiple convictions for offenses arising from a single criminal transaction violates Double Jeopardy is whether the Legislature "intended to authorize separate punishments" for the various crimes. <u>Gordon</u> <u>v. State</u>, 780 So. 2d 17, 19-20 (Fla. 2001), <u>quoting</u>, <u>M.P. v.</u> <u>State</u>, 682 So. 2d 79, 81 (Fla. 1996). This standard is codified in § 775.021, Fla. Stat. (2004), which reads in relevant part:

> (4) (a) Whoever, in the course of one criminal transaction or episode, commits an act or acts which constitute one or more separate criminal offenses, upon conviction adjudication of quilt, shall and be sentenced separately for each criminal offense; and the sentencing judge may order the sentences to be served concurrently or consecutively. For the purposes of this subsection, offenses are separate if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not, without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial.

> (b) The intent of the Legislature is to convict and sentence for each criminal offense committed in the course of one criminal episode or transaction and not to allow the principle of lenity as set forth in subsection (1) to determine legislative intent. Exceptions to this rule of construction are:

> 1. Offenses which require identical elements of proof.

2. Offenses which are degrees of 14

the same offense as provided by statute.

3. Offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense.

Where the charging document alleges Sexual Battery consisting of one act - penetration - along with the other elements of Lewd and Lascivious Battery - the age of the victim being 12 years of age or older but under 16 years of age - the state, or the defendant can seek a permissive lesser-included offense of Lewd and Lascivious Battery. No Double Jeopardy concerns would be implicated because the defendant could not be found guilty of both offenses.

The intent of the Legislature to make each lewd act a separate offense and independently punishable is clear from both § 775.021, and the significant overhaul of § 800.04. The 1999 Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement with respect to amending § 800.04 states: Lewd and Lascivious, or Indecent Assault or Act on a child under § 800.04 F.S, would be amended to provide definitions and to break down the offense to clearly indicate the *different types of criminal behavior* that would be prohibited under § 800.04." <u>Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement</u>, CS/SB 170 "Children's Protection Act of 1999", February 2, 1999. (emphasis added).

Although, as Petitioner states, this question is not

directly at issue in this case, the Second District Court of Appeal's decision in this case notes:

Issues concerning the 1999 amendments to section 800.04 seem to be arising with some frequency. See, e.g., Robinson v. State, 919 So. 2d 623, 31 Fla. L. Weekly D 245 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006) (holding that defendant could not be convicted of both sexual battery and lewd or lascivious battery based on the same conduct; the State argued that the 1999 amendments to section 800.04 permitted that result); Gresham v. State, 908 So. 2d 1114, 1115 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005) (discussing Welsh and the 1999 amendments to section 800.04 in the context of a requested jury instruction, but not reaching the issue because the defendant failed to preserve it). For this reason, we certify that our decision in this case passes on the following question of great public importance:

Williams v. State, 922 So. 2d 418, 422 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006).

The Second District Court of Appeal's parenthetical notation regarding <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 919 So. 2d 623 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006) stating that case held, "[a] defendant could not be convicted of both sexual battery and *lewd or lascivious battery* based on the same conduct; the State argued that the 1999 amendments to section 800.04 permitted that result," (emphasis added), either is simply a misstatement or an example of the district courts' misreading of the amended § 800.04.

In <u>Robinson</u>, the defendant was charged with Sexual Battery and Lewd and Lascivious *Molestation*. The Robinson opinion does

not recite the language of the charging document, but does state:

The victim, who was thirteen years old at the time of the crime, testified that the only sexual act Robinson perpetrated was a digital penetration of her vagina. She did not describe any fondling or other sexual activity. For example, when asked "how [Robinson] used his hand under your shorts," she replied that he "put them in my vagina." When the prosecutor asked the victim "whether [Robinson's fingers] went just on the inside or the outside," she answered "the inside."

919 So. 2d at 623. (emphasis added).

The court then goes on to speak of the offenses in the general term "lewd and lascivious conduct," and cites a number of cases, including this Court's holding in <u>State v. Hightower</u>, 509 So. 2d 1078 (Fla. 1987), for the proposition that Double Jeopardy prohibits convictions for both Sexual Battery and Lewd and Lascivious Molestation.

While the result might be correct in <u>Robinson</u>, the rationale is not.<sup>1</sup> Double Jeopardy would not bar a conviction for both

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Assuming the evidence with regard to the molestation charge was solely the testimony of the victim that the only touching involved was the defendant's fingers penetrating her vagina, there would be insufficient evidence to support the charge of Lewd and Lascivious Molestation. If there was evidence

Sexual Battery and Lewd and Lascivious Molestation if the molestation charge alleged touching of the genitals other than that necessary to accomplish penetration, <u>and</u> the state presented evidence of such touching. Furthermore, if there was evidence presented of lewd touching of the breast, buttocks, or genital area or clothing covering them, an independent charge and conviction for Lewd and Lascivious Molestation would not be barred by Double Jeopardy.

Similarly, the result in <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 913 So. 2d 1291 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) may be correct under the facts of that case, but the blanket assertion Double Jeopardy prohibits convictions for both Sexual Battery on a Child Under 12 and Lewd and Lascivious Molestation is incorrect. There, the defendant pleaded no contest to, and was convicted of both Sexual Battery of a Child under 12 and Lewd and Lascivious Molestation. He appealed alleging the dual convictions violated Double Jeopardy. The state did not address the Double Jeopardy issue because it conceded that there was an insufficient factual basis to support the Lewd and Lascivious Molestation. In reciting the factual basis, the state merely alleged Johnson "committed a

presented of touching the genital area sufficiently distinct from that necessary to accomplish penetration a conviction for Lewd and Lascivious Molestation could stand.

sexual battery by putting his penis inside the vagina of the nine-year-old victim." No other acts were alleged.

This Court has recently addressed the Double Jeopardy issue with regard to the amended version of § 800.04. In <u>State v.</u> <u>Paul</u>, SC05-656 (June 22, 2006) this Court reviewed the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision which held there was "no legislative authorization for 'separate convictions and sentences for each of the cumulative acts occurring in the course of one continuous and almost simultaneous act of lewd and lascivious activity on a minor, particularly where each lesser act leads up to the most serious of the charges.'" <u>Quoting</u>, <u>Paul</u> v. State, 912 So. 2d 8, 11 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2005).

Paul was convicted of four of the six crimes for which he was charged. The jury found Paul (1) intentionally touched the victim's genital area or the clothing covering it, contrary to section 800.04(5), Florida Statutes (1999); (2) intentionally touched the victim in a lewd or lascivious manner by kissing the victim's neck, contrary to section 800.04(6), Florida Statutes (1999); (3) intentionally touched the victim in a lewd or lascivious manner by rubbing his penis on the victim's stomach area, contrary to section 800.04(6), Florida Statutes (1999); and (4) intentionally exposed his genitals in a lewd or lascivious manner in the presence of the victim, contrary to

section 800.04(7), Florida Statutes (1999).

The offenses occurred in two different rooms of the victim's house. Paul rubbed the victim's genital area over his clothing and kissed the victim's neck in the living room. Paul and the victim then went into an empty bedroom of the house where Paul touched the victim's penis underneath his clothing; exposed his own penis; and rubbed it on the victim's stomach until he (Paul) ejaculated.

The district court found that the events were two distinct crimes because they were spatially and temporarily separated by the act of taking the victim from one room of the house to another. The district court also held, though, that the offenses that occurred in each room were a series of lesser acts leading up to the most serious of the charges. Therefore, Paul's Double Jeopardy protection was violated by the multiple convictions for each act. <u>Paul</u>, 912 So. 2d at 11. The Fourth District Court of Appeal certified conflict with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Hunsicker v. State</u>, 881 So .2d 1166 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004), which held that because of the new statutory scheme of § 800.04 convictions for Lewd or Lascivious Molestation, Lewd and Lascivious Conduct, and Lewd and Lascivious Exhibition do not violate Double Jeopardy.

Initially, this Court noted that the Double Jeopardy Clause

consists of three separate constitutional protections: "It protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal. It protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction. And it protects against multiple punishments for the same offense." <u>Quoting</u>, <u>North Carolina v.</u> <u>Pearce</u>, 395 U.S. 711, 717, 89 S. Ct. 2072 (1969), <u>overruled on</u> <u>other grounds by</u>, <u>Alabama v. Smith</u>, 490 U.S. 794, 109 S. Ct. 2201 (1989).

This Court then employed the <u>Blockburger</u><sup>2</sup> test as codified in § 775.021, Fla. Stat. (2005) to determine whether the multiple convictions violated Paul's right to be free from being twice placed in jeopardy.<sup>3</sup> In applying the test to the convictions for Lewd and Lascivious Conduct (kissing the victim's neck) and Lewd and Lascivious Molestation (touching the

<sup>2</sup> Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299 (1932).

<sup>3</sup> Respondent respectfully disagrees with this Court's finding that there is no clear statement of Legislature's intent to create separate offense for each of the acts committed. The separation of the previous version of § 800.04 into four distinct crimes clearly indicates the Legislature's intent to create separate offenses that can be punished independent of one another. It is unclear whether this Court had the benefit of the Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement the makes explicit the Legislature's intent to criminalize each act committed. victim's genitals over his clothing) occurring in the living room, this Court found there was a Double Jeopardy violation because while Lewd and Lascivious Molestation has an element that Lewd and Lascivious Conduct does not, Lewd and Lascivious Conduct does not have and element that Lewd and Lascivious Molestation does not. This Court stated,

> other words, any violation In of subsection (5)(a), which prohibits the lewd touching of particular body parts of a person under sixteen years of age, will also violate subsection (6)(a), which simply prohibits any lewd touching of a person under sixteen years of age. Thus, one cannot say "each offense has an element that the other does not." While subsection (5)(a) has an element that subsection (6)(a) does not, the converse is not true-that (6)(a)(1) has an element (5)(a) does not. Therefore, dual and punishments convictions are not permitted for these violations.

### State v. Paul, SC05-656 (Fla. 2006).

The Court then went on to analyze the acts that were committed in the bedroom - Lewd and Lascivious Conduct (Paul's exposure of his penis), and Lewd and Lascivious Molestation (Paul rubbing his penis on the victim's stomach). Under the same elements test, this Court found that each offense requires elements the other does not. Finally, the Court applied the last exception in § 775.021, which applies to "offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense." The Court held:

As this Court recently stressed in [State v. Florida, 894 So. 2d 941, 947 (Fla. 2005)], "subsection (4)(b)(3) applies only to necessarily lesser included offenses," which have been defined as "those [offenses] in which the elements of the lesser offense are always subsumed within the greater, without regard to the charging document or evidence at trial." Id. In this case, lewd or lascivious conduct does not necessarily include lewd or lascivious exhibition. The only reason why the two were charged based on the one act in the bedroom is because Paul conducted the prohibited touching with his genitals, therefore also exposing his genitals in the process of touching the victim. However, if he had simply touched the victim's stomach in a lewd manner with any other portion of his body, he would have only violated 800.04(6). Because the determination regarding a necessarily lesser offense is confined included to the statutory elements of the crime and does not consider the evidence at trial, double jeopardy is not violated by these two convictions.

The state's argument before this Court is that Lewd and Lascivious Battery is a permissive lesser-included offense, not a necessarily lesser-included offense. Therefore, Double Jeopardy principles are not affected. In comparing the statutory elements of both offenses, it becomes apparent they are not necessarily lesser-included offenses. The most obvious difference in the elements of the two offenses is the elements of age and consent. Lewd and Lascivious Battery is a lesser included offense of Sexual Battery only where the charging document and the evidence show that the victim is over the age of 12, but less than the age of 16. Likewise, where the charging document might allege lack of consent, the permissive lesser-included offense of Lewd and Lascivious Battery is appropriate where the evidence is conflicting with regard to the issue of consent.

## It Is Permissible For The Trial Court To List The Lesser On The Verdict Form In An Order That Gives The Court The Discretion To Impose A Lesser Penalty, Even If That Order Also Gives The Trial Court The Discretion To Impose An Equal Or Greater Penalty

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